# Targeted cytotoxic somatostatin analogs: a modern approach to the therapy of various cancers

# Attila Nagy and Andrew V. Schally

Section of Experimental Medicine, Department of Medicine, Tulane University School of Medicine, New Orleans, LA 70112-2699, USA and Endocrine, Polypeptide and Cancer Institute, Veterans Affairs Medical Center, New Orleans, LA 70112-1262, USA. Correspondence: Dr. A. Nagy, Veterans Affairs Medical Center, 1601 Perdido Street, New Orleans, LA 70112-1262, USA.

## **CONTENTS**

| Introduction                             | 261 |
|--|-----|
| Design and synthesis                     | 262 |
| Cytotoxic radicals                       | 262 |
| Cytotoxic SST conjugates                 | 262 |
| Mechanism of action                      | 263 |
| Therapeutic application                  | 264 |
| Prostate cancer                          | 264 |
| Renal cell carcinoma                     | 266 |
| Breast cancer                            | 266 |
| Brain tumors                             | 266 |
| Small and non-small cell lung carcinomas | 267 |
| Pancreatic cancer                        | 267 |
| Epithelial ovarian cancer                | 268 |
| Other cancers                            | 268 |
| Conclusions                              | 268 |
| Acknowledgements                         | 268 |
| References                               | 268 |

# Introduction

Somatostatin is a hormonal neuropeptide that was isolated from ovine and later from porcine hypothalami and characterized as an inhibitor of growth hormone secretion from the pituitary gland (1-3). In mammals, SST was found to exist in two active forms, a 14 amino acid peptide (SST-14) and an amino terminally extended version consisting of 28 amino acids (4, 5). Both forms of SST exhibit similar suppressive effects on a wide variety of cells and appear to be endogenous growth inhibitors (3-6). Because of the short plasma half-life of native SST (< 3 min), its clinical use is impractical. Therefore, more stable analogs with enhanced activities were synthesized to exploit the great therapeutic potential in this inhibitory peptide. As a result of intensive research, several stable SST analogs were developed including octreotide (Sandostatin; SMS 201-995), vapreotide (RC-160) and lanreotide (BIM-23014) (7-9). These analogs have a plasma half-life of approx. 120 min and are about 50 times more potent than SST in inhibiting growth hormone release from the pituitary. They are also more selective than native SST in suppressing insulin and glucagon secretion. Preclinical studies revealed that SST and its octapeptide analogs exert their effects through specific membrane receptors. Presently, 5 distinct subtypes (sst<sub>1.5</sub>) have been cloned and characterized (10, 11). These receptors are widely distributed in normal and malignant tissues with cells often expressing more than one subtype (3-6). While SST-14 and SST-28 show similar high affinity to sst<sub>1.5</sub>, the synthetic octapeptides such as RC-160 and RC-121, developed in our institute, and octreotide bind preferentially to sst<sub>2</sub> and sst<sub>5</sub>, display moderate affinity to sst<sub>3</sub> and low affinity to sst<sub>1</sub> and sst<sub>4</sub> (11).

The receptors for SST on various neuroendocrine malignancies and many other solid tumors (3-6) could be used for targeted chemotherapy. Thus, we investigated the use of SST octapeptides as carriers capable of delivering cytotoxic agents specifically to cancerous cells, and during the late 1980s several such hybrid conjugates were designed in our laboratories (12, 13). One early analog, consisting of the antimetabolite methotrexate linked to carrier RC-121 (12), showed promising results in SST receptor-positive MIA PaCa-2 experimental pancreatic cancers in nude mice (13). In the last decade, a variety of SST radiotracer analogs have also been developed, including [111In]-diethylenetriamine pentaacetic acid [(DTPA)-D-Phe<sup>1</sup>]octreotide (Octreoscan) for scintigraphic use (14-17). Some of these analogs were demonstrated to be useful tools for the localization of SST receptor-positive tumors in patients (3, 14, 15). Subsequently, these and other SST analogs labeled with appropriate radionuclides such as <sup>186</sup>Rhenium or <sup>90</sup>Yttrium were also applied in cancer therapy. Encouraged by these results, we developed a series of novel targeted cytotoxic SST conjugates that consist of carriers RC-160 and RC-121 coupled to doxorubicin (DOX) or its superactive derivative, 2-pyrrolino-DOX (AN-201), which is 500-1000 times more potent in vitro than DOX (18-20). Very recently, an analog consisting of paclitaxel linked to octreotide has also been reported by others (21).

This review describes the design, synthesis and mechanism of action of our targeted cytotoxic SST analogs. We also tried to compile and interpret experimental oncological results from the perspective of possible clinical application.

## Design and synthesis

# Cytotoxic radicals

Our selection of DOX as the active chemotherapeutic radical for targeted cytotoxic conjugates is based on the fact that after more than 3 decades, DOX is still one of the most widely used anticancer agents, with the broadest spectrum of antitumor activity (22). Although the exact mechanism of action of DOX is still not fully understood, it has been established that its antiproliferative activity is mainly due to DNA intercalation and inhibition of topoisomerase II, which in turn leads to DNA strand breaks in dividing cells (23). This explains why DOX shows some selectivity towards cancerous cells and also accounts for certain side effects such as myelosuppression. The main dose-limiting toxicity of DOX, however, is not myelotoxicity but cardiomyopathy, which is believed to be due to the generation of free radicals mediated by the quinone moiety of the anthracycline molecule in the presence of iron ions (24). Thus, chronic exposure to > 450 Mg/m<sup>2</sup> cumulative dose of DOX was found to overwhelm the heart's weak antioxidant defenses, leading to irreversible life-threatening damage of cardiac muscles. DOX was also shown to kill malignant cells without entering the nucleus, through binding to membrane phospholipids (25). In addition to toxic effects, the clinical efficacy of DOX is further impeded by intrinsic or acquired multidrug resistance of cancerous cells (26).

To overcome these drawbacks, thousands of DOX

derivatives have been synthesized and tested, including 2-pyrrolino-DOX (AN-201). AN-201 can be readily formed by reacting DOX with a 5- to 10-fold excess of 4-iodobutyraldehyde in dimethylformamide (Scheme 1). The conversion of DOX takes place within minutes and is virtually 100% (19). AN-201 was shown to be 500-1000 times more potent than DOX in vitro. The high in vitro and in vivo antiproliferative activity of some daunosamine-modified DOX derivatives, even against DOX-resistant cell lines, was attributed to their ability to "alkylate" an amino group of a guanine base in close vicinity to the DNA intercalation site (19, 27, 28). Such derivatives were shown to be non-cross-resistant with DOX, and possibly due to their low maximum tolerated doses, noncardiotoxic (27, 28). Not surprisingly, the dose-limiting toxicity of these strong DNA intercalating and crosslinking agents is due to the damage to bone marrow (20, 28).

A modern approach developed by us to lower the toxicity and enhance the efficacy of these very potent anticancer agents is based on the targeting of their respective conjugates to specific receptors for peptide hormones such as luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone (LH-RH) (29), bombesin/gastrin releasing peptide (30) and SST (18) present on cancerous cells (20).

# Cytotoxic SST conjugates

The outcome of targeted chemotherapy greatly depends on the chemical modifications used to construct the new hybrid entity. It is essential to preserve the ability of the carrier peptide portion to bind specifically to receptors on target tumor tissue and to retain the cytotoxicity of the anticancer agent. Ideally, the conjugate should be stable and inactive in the circulation, with the cytotoxic agent being released in an active form only in the tumors (20).

Drugs Fut 2001, 26(3) 263

Code name

AN-162, 
$$P = \frac{\text{(D-Phe)-Cys-Tyr-D-Trp-Lys-Val-Cys-Thr-NH}_2 (\text{RC-121})}{\text{R} = \text{NH}_2}$$

AN-238,  $P = \frac{\text{(D-Phe)-Cys-Tyr-D-Trp-Lys-Val-Cys-Thr-NH}_2 (\text{RC-121})}{\text{R} = \frac{\text{(N-Phe)-Cys-Tyr-D-Trp-Lys-Val-Cys-Thr-NH}_2 (\text{RC-121})}{\text{R} = \frac{\text{(N-Phe)-Cys-Tyr-D-Trp-Lys-Val-Cys-Trp-NH}_2 (\text{RC-160})}{\text{R} = \frac{\text{(N-163)}}{\text{R}}}$ 

AN-258,  $P = \frac{\text{(D-Phe)-Cys-Tyr-D-Trp-Lys-Val-Cys-Trp-NH}_2 (\text{RC-160})}{\text{R} = \frac{\text{(N-163)}}{\text{R}}}$ 

Fig. 1. Molecular structure of cytotoxic SST conjugates AN-162, AN-163, AN-238 and AN-258. Cytotoxic radicals DOX ( $R = NH_2$ ) and AN-201 (R = 2-pyrrolino) are linked through a glutaric acid spacer to the amino terminal D-Phe residues (circled) of SST octapeptide carriers RC-121 and RC-160. The ester bond between the 14 OH group of the cytotoxic radical and glutaric acid is indicated by a shaded area. P denotes the peptide carrier. (Modified with permission from Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000, 97: 829-34. Copyright National Academy of Science 2000.)

Early tests with SST octapeptide analogs indicated that certain modifications at the amino terminal can be done without a severe loss of binding affinity (12, 13, 17). Thus, we linked DOX and AN-201, which are fairly large molecules, to the amino terminal of RC-160 and RC-121 to form cytotoxic SST hybrids. Binding assays demonstrated that in spite of the bulkiness of DOX, the conjugates AN-162 and AN-163 containing DOX displayed an affinity to receptors for SST on membrane preparations of rat pituitary in the nanomolar range (18). Analogs AN-238 and AN-258 containing AN-201 had  $IC_{50}$  values of 23.8 nM and 80.1 nM, respectively. However,  $\mathrm{IC}_{50}$  values for AN-238 were found to be between 1 nM and 10 nM on a variety of tumor membranes. The conjugates were also able to effectively inhibit growth hormone-releasing hormone or forskolin-induced growth hormone release at nanomolar concentrations, as determined in perifused rat pituitary cell system in vitro (18).

Various chemical linkages have been used to couple DOX to peptidic or other carriers without loss of its antineoplastic activity. These include the sodium periodate oxidation followed by reductive alkylation at the daunosamine sugar moiety (31), the use of spacer arms that are acid sensitive such as cis-aconitic acid (32) and maleimidocaproyl hydrazone (33), or enzyme sensitive like the tetrapeptides ALAL (34) and GPLG (35). Self immolative spacers based on 1,4- and 1,6-elimination (36) or trimethyl lock lactonization (37) were also used with success. Because 14-O-esters of DOX are relatively stable (38), and 14-O-glutaryl esters can be also used to link daunosamine-modified DOX derivatives such as AN-201 to free amino groups on carriers, we synthesized N-Fmoc-DOX-14-O-hemiglutarate and 2-pyrrolino-DOX-14-O-hemiglutarate (18). These DOX derivatives were then coupled to the amino terminal of [Lys(Fmoc)<sup>5</sup>]-

RC-121, followed by deprotection to form AN-162 containing DOX or superactive analog AN-238 incorporating radical AN-201, respectively. The corresponding cytotoxic conjugates with carrier RC-160 (AN-163 and AN-258) were prepared similarly (18) (Fig. 1).

#### Mechanism of action

Although tissue distribution studies with our cytotoxic SST analogs have not been completed at present, it is assumed that these cytotoxic hybrids can accumulate in both normal and cancerous cells bearing receptors for SST, as demonstrated with radioactive SST analogs (14, 15, 20). After binding and internalization of the SST conjugate (40), the cytotoxic radical may be released inside the cells by nonspecific carboxylesterase enzymes (EC.3.1.1.1), which are ubiquitous (39). It is also possible, however, that the cytotoxic radical is released, in part, after binding but before internalization. This mechanism could still produce a higher concentration of the radical in SST receptor-positive tissue and, in addition, a "bystander effect", affecting SST receptor-negative neighboring cells. As a result of the bystander effect, it is very difficult to demonstrate targeting of these conjugates in vitro. Despite such difficulties, recently we were able to show a more selective toxicity of AN-238 towards receptor-positive cells in mixed populations of SST receptor-negative and receptor-positive cells, using cell line-specific microsatellite markers for semiquantitative analysis (41, 42).

In vivo, the release of the radicals can also occur in the bloodstream before the targeting is completed, impeding the efficacy of the therapy. In fact, the plasma half-life of the ester bond appears to play a key role in the efficiency of this type of targeting (18, 43). A longer half-life apparently allows a more complete targeting and produces a higher concentration of the conjugate in SST receptor-positive normal and cancerous tissues. A possible damage to receptor-positive normal cells seems to be less harmful than the myelosuppression caused by a nontargeted cytotoxic agent, and consequently, a better targeting is accompanied by a lower toxicity. Thus, we found a much lower toxicity of cytotoxic SST analog AN-238 in rats in which the half-life of the ester bond is > 60 min, compared with its cytotoxic radical AN-201 (44). In contrast, the toxicity of the conjugate was found to be only slightly lower in mice in which the half-life of the ester bond is ~ 20 min (20). We demonstrated in mice that by extending the plasma half-life of the ester bond from 20 to 70 min by an esterase inhibitor, the same tolerance pattern can be produced as in rats (42, 43). Receptormediated action of AN-238 was also demonstrated in mice with suppressed esterase activity by blocking the SST receptors with an excess of carrier RC-121 prior to administration of AN-238 at a high dose. Such a dose is tolerated when the receptors are available (42, 43), but despite the prolonged half-life, AN-238 was lethal in this model, indicating that when receptors are occupied a toxic dose of cytotoxic radical is eventually released by hydrolysis in the circulation. Others also reported that efficient targeting of DOX conjugates can be achieved with plasma half-lives ranging from 0.2-24 h, the optimal being about 2 h (37). Because the half-life of the DOX-14-O-glutaryl ester bond in human plasma in vitro is approx. 2 h, the mouse model with pharmacological inhibition of esterase activity can also serve as a more accurate preclinical model to predict possible therapeutic effects in a clinical setting (43). In view of the fact that the plasma half-life of our carrier SST octapeptides is also about 2 h, the use of 14-O-glutaryl esters of DOX or its daunosamine-modified derivative AN-201 appears to be a reasonable choice.

# Therapeutic application

Recent developments in SST receptor subtype determination and a better understanding of the mechanism of the antiproliferative action of SST octapeptide analogs helped to identify patients with tumors who may benefit from SST hormonal therapy (6). However, with the exception of growth hormone producing pituitary adenomas and certain neuroendocrine tumors such as carcinoids, the results of clinical treatment with SST analogs are not satisfactory (45). Most of these tumors eventually escape from SST analog treatment (45). Extensive experimental and clinical experience with radionuclide SST analogs in neuroendocrine and other SST receptor-positive tumors indicate that by targeting radiopharmaceuticals to tumor cells, better response rates could be achieved (15, 16, 46, 47). Because chemotherapy is one of the main modalities for the treatment of various cancers, especially metastatic and inoperable, the presence of sst<sub>2</sub>, sst<sub>5</sub> or

sst<sub>3</sub> on a wide variety of tumors and their vasculature (3, 20, 48-50) provides a firm rationale for introducing a new therapeutic approach based on targeting chemotherapeutic agents to these receptors (3, 20). Latest results of our studies with AN-238 and AN-162, consisting of carrier RC-121 linked to AN-201 or DOX, respectively, demonstrate that these targeted cytotoxic SST analogs are more effective and less toxic than their corresponding cytotoxic radicals even in experimental tumor models expressing a relatively low density of SST receptors (20, 48).

#### Prostate cancer

Prostate cancer is the most common noncutaneous malignancy in men. The prognosis of patients with androgen refractory prostate cancer is very poor, and no effective treatment exists at present (3, 51). Although the normal prostate gland expresses  $\operatorname{sst}_2$ , this subtype seems to vanish during cancerous transformation (52). Nevertheless, high affinity binding of radiolabeled RC-160 could be demonstrated on 50 of 80 (65%) primary prostate cancer specimens (53) and we found the expression of  $\operatorname{sst}_2$  on 14% and  $\operatorname{sst}_5$  on 64% of 22 samples tested (53). Successful scintigraphic imaging of metastatic lesions with Octreoscan also indicate that although the density of receptors for SST on metastases of prostate cancer may be low, it could be adequate for targeted therapy with cytotoxic SST analogs (54).

The antitumor efficacy of the targeted cytotoxic SST analog AN-238 was first evaluated on the very aggressive androgen-independent Dunning R-3327-AT-1 prostate carcinoma in Copenhagen rats. At a well-tolerated dose of 300 nmol/kg, AN-238 produced a > 80% decrease in tumor weight and significantly decreased tumor burden 4 weeks after therapy. In contrast, the cytotoxic radical AN-201 showed only a weak effect at 110 nmol/kg and killed 9 of 10 animals at 115 nmol/kg within 12 days. mRNA for rat sst<sub>2</sub> was identified in Dunning R-3327-AT-1 tumors, and high affinity binding of AN-238 to tumor membrane preparations was characterized with an IC<sub>50</sub> value of 1.63  $\pm$  0.33 nM (Table I) (44).

Similarly, impressive results were obtained in nude mice bearing androgen-independent PC-3 human prostate cancers. In two separate studies, nude mice with subcutaneously grown PC-3 tumors were treated with a single dose of 200 nmol/kg or two consecutive injections of 150 nmol/kg of AN-238. In both experiments, AN-238 reduced final tumor volumes, tumor weights and tumor burden by more than 60%. Histological examination of tumors revealed that the effect of AN-238 is mainly due to a significant increase in the number of cells undergoing apoptosis. This is important because the growth of prostate cancer is associated with a low rate of apoptosis rather than a high rate of mitosis. In accord with the known chemoresistance of androgen refractory prostate cancer, AN-201 was ineffective and more toxic. In the metastatic model of PC-3, treatment with AN-238 at

Table I: SST receptor expression and efficacy of targeted chemotherapy with AN-238 containing AN-201 in various experimental cancers.

| Tumor models                       | mRNA <sup>a</sup><br>sst <sub>2</sub> , sst <sub>3</sub> , sst <sub>5</sub> | Bindii<br>K <sub>D</sub> (nM) | Binding of <sup>125</sup> I-RC-160 M) B <sub>max</sub> (fmol/mg prot.) | Binding of AN-238<br>IC <sub>50</sub> (nM) <sup>b</sup> | Effect of AN-238 on tumor volume   | Effect of AN-201 on tumor volume  |
|------------------------------------|---|-------------------------------|--|---|--|---|
| Prostatic<br>Dunning R-3327-AT-1   | +c ND -c  | 9.0                           | 229.9  | 1.63  | 40% inhibition at 115 nmol/kg  | 35% inhibition at 110 nmol/kg   |
| PC-3 subcutaneous                  | + QN (+)  | N                             | QN   | QN  | 62 and 74% inhibition at 2 x 150   | No effect, 3 of 7 mice died   |
| orthotopic                         | + QN (+)  | S                             | S  | CZ  | and 200 nmol/kg, respectively 77% inhibition at 2 x 150 nmol/kg                        | at 200 nmol/kg dose<br>34% inhihition at 2 x 150 nmol/kg                |
| metastases                         | (+) QN (+)  | Q<br>N                        | Q.   | Q Q   | 0 of 6 mice developed metastases   | 4 of 6 mice developed metastases  |
| Renal                              | 2   |                               | Š  | 1   |  |   |
| SW-839<br>786-0                    | - AN +  | 8.40                          | L94  | 7.38  | 67% innibition at 3 x 150 nmol/kg  | 27% Innibition at 3 x 150 nmol/kg                                       |
| subcutaneous                       | + QN -  | 4.33                          | 378  | 2.04  | 78% inhibition at 3 x 150 nmol/kg  | 40% inhibition at 3 x 150 nmol/kg                                       |
| orthotopic                         | ND ND ND  | ND                            | QN   | QN  | 87% inhibition at 3 x 150 nmol/kg  | 35% inhibition at 3 x 150 nmol/kg                                       |
| metastases                         | ND ND ND  | ND                            | QN   | QN  | 1 of 7 mice developed metastatses  | 5 of 6 mice developed metastases  |
| CAKI-1                             | - ND -  | no binding                    | no binding   | QN  | No effect at 2 x 150 nmol/kg   | No effect at 2 x 150 nmol/kg  |
| Breast                             |   |                               |  |   |  |   |
| MCF-7MIII                          | + ND +  | 2.9                           | 270  | Q   | Lasting regression at 250 nmol/kg  | No effect at 250 nmol/kg  |
| MDA-MB-231                         | + ND +  | 7.3                           | 946  | QN  | Initial regression at 250 nmol/kg  | No effect at 250 nmol/kg  |
| MX-1                               | + ND +  | 7.9                           | 292  | QN  | 5 of 10 mice cured, no deaths  | 1 of 10 cured, 1 death  |
| Brain                              |   |                               |  |   |  |   |
| U-87-MG                            |   |                               |  |   |  |   |
| subcutaneous                       | - QN +  | 9.77                          | 835  | 3.67  | 82% inhibition at 150 nmol/kg  | 35% inhibition at 150 nmol/kg   |
| orthotopic                         | ND ND ND  | ΩN                            | ND   | ΩN  | 30% shrinkage at 2 x 150 nmol/kg<br>Significantly prolonged survival                   | 32% inihibition at 2 x 150 nmol/kg<br>No significant effect             |
| SCLC                               |   |                               |  |   |  |   |
| 69-Н                               | + ND (+)  | Q                             | ND   | QN  | 55% inhibition at 200 nmol/kg<br>73% inhibition at 3 x 150 nmol/kg                     | 38% inhibition at 200 nmol/kg<br>33% inhibition at 3 x 150 nmol/kg      |
| non-SCLC                           |   |                               |  |   |  |   |
| H-157                              | '<br> <br>  +   | 8.66                          | 574  | ND  | 91% inhibition at 200 nmol/kg<br>1 of 7 mice died<br>83% inhibition at 2 × 150 nmol/kg | 20% inhibition at 200 nmol/kg<br>3 of 7 mice died<br>2 × 150 not tested |
| Ovarian                            |   |                               |  |   |  |   |
| UCI-107<br>with esterase inhibitor | + (+) +   | 1.1                           | 375.5  | 3.39  | 61% inhibition at 2 x 150 nmol/kg 70% inhibition at 2 x 400 nmol/kg                    | 34% inhibition at 2 x 150 nmol/kg<br>1 x 400 nmol/ka was lethal         |
|                                    |   |                               |  |   |  |   |

<sup>a</sup>+ present, (+) weak expression, – not detectable; <sup>b</sup>IC<sub>50</sub> is defined as the concentration of AN-238 causing a 50% inhibition of <sup>125</sup>I-RC-160 binding to tumor membranes; <sup>o</sup>mRNA for rat SST receptor subtype; <sup>d</sup>MRNA for mouse SST receptor subtype; ND = not determined.

150 nmol/kg given twice had an even greater effect on the weight of orthotopically grown tumors, producing a 77% reduction. In addition, no retroperitoneal or distant metastases could be observed 4 weeks after the initiation of therapy with AN-238. In contrast, cancer spread was detected in all control animals and 4 of 6 mice treated with an equimolar dose of AN-201 (55). The presence of mRNA for sst<sub>2</sub> and sst<sub>5</sub> was found in all PC-3 tumor samples, the levels of mRNA for sst<sub>5</sub> being much higher in primary orthotopic and subcutaneous tumors.

#### Renal cell carcinoma

Renal cell carcinoma (RCC) often remains occult during the progression of the disease and is diagnosed mainly at an advanced stage, when metastatic spread cannot be prevented by surgical intervention. The prognosis for metastatic RCC is dismal because of its resistance to both chemotherapy and radiotherapy (41).

Because more than 70% of RCCs express high affinity binding sites for SST and its bioactive analogs (56), we tested the effects of AN-238 on sst<sub>2</sub>-positive SW-839, sst<sub>5</sub>-positive 786-0 and SST receptor-negative CAKI-1 human RCC lines in nude mice (41). High affinity binding of AN-238 was found on membrane preparations of SW-839 and 786-0 characterized by  $IC_{50}$  values of  $7.38 \pm 0.68$  and  $2.04 \pm 0.25$  nM, respectively (Table I). While no significant antitumor effect of AN-238 was observed on CAKI-1 xenografts, the growth of SW-839 and 786-0 tumors was inhibited significantly. Even more striking results were obtained with orthotopically grown 786-0 metastatic RCC. Three of 7 mice treated with 3 i.v. injections of AN-238 at a dose of 150 nmol/kg biweekly were found to be tumor-free 6 weeks after the initiation of treatment, and in 3 other animals the tumor mass was < 30 mg. In 1 mouse, a relatively large tumor mass (320 mg) was found which did not express SST receptors, as evidenced by a radioreceptor assay. The mean tumor weight in the group treated with AN-238 was 55.3 ± 44.3 mg, representing an 87% reduction compared with controls, which measured 414.2 mg ± 41.0. More importantly, in the AN-238-treated group only the mouse with the large receptor-negative primary tumor developed lymphatic metastases. In contrast, metastases were observed in 5 of 6 animals in both the control and the AN-201-treated groups. In all these studies, AN-201 was again ineffective and more toxic than AN-238, indicating that the accumulation of the drug in tumors by targeting may overcome the chemoresistance of RCCs and alleviate the toxicity (41). A selective cytotoxic effect of AN-238, but not of AN-201, on sst<sub>s</sub>-positive 786-0 cells could also be demonstrated in vitro when these cells were mixed with SST-negative CAKI-1 cells (41).

## Breast cancer

Over half a million breast cancer cases are reported worldwide each year. Although an early detection by

screening mammography significantly improves the cure rate, estrogen-independent metastatic breast cancer still poses an enormous challenge to oncologists, especially in patients with chemoresistant tumors (57). The presence of SST octapeptide-preferring subtypes on human breast cancer specimens has been thoroughly investigated by several research groups (57). While a nonhomogeneous receptor distribution was demonstrated by in situ hybridization and receptor autoradiography in 28 human breast cancer specimens (58), immunocytochemical staining of 33 primary breast tumors with polyclonal anti-sst, antibodies showed that in 85% of the specimens receptor immunoreactivity was uniformly present in nearly all cancerous cells (59). Consequently, the patients with breast cancer could benefit from treatment with analogs such as AN-238, which may release the cytotoxic radical, in part, in the interstitial space of tumor tissue affecting both receptor-positive and neighboring cells by bystander effect.

To investigate the efficacy of SST receptor targeting in human breast cancer, nude mice bearing xenografts of estrogen-sensitive MCF-7-MIII, estrogen-independent MDA-MB-231 and MX-1 (also DOX-resistant) tumors were treated with a single i.v. injection of AN-238 or AN-201 at 250 mnol/kg (57). In the MCF-7-MIII model, 3 of 8 tumors showed a regression, even 60 days after the administration of AN-238, while all tumors grew steadily in the group treated with AN-201. In the MDA-MB-231 model, 4 of 13 tumors showed an apparent initial regression after treatment with AN-238 that lasted for about 2 weeks. AN-201 again had no effect on tumor growth. Both AN-201 and AN-238 showed a very strong inhibition on the growth of MX-1 tumors. After 60 days, 5 of 10 animals in the AN-238-treated group and only 1 of 9 mice in the AN-201 group were tumor free. Because chemoresistance is a major problem in the management of breast cancer in patients, it is important to point out that AN-238 is active on DOX-resistant tumor cells. In all 3 experiments, AN-201 was again more toxic as assessed by animal deaths and white blood cell counts (57).

# Brain tumors

Glioblastomas represent the most common form of primary brain tumors and are considered incurable. Low grade glioblastomas express sst<sub>2</sub> (60) and radionuclide SST analog therapy in patients with such tumors shows promising results (46).

Because U-87 MG human glioblastomas express receptors for SST, we tested AN-238 in both subcutaneous and orthotopic models in nude mice (61). Animals with large (>  $500 \text{ mm}^3$ ) subcutaneous xenografts were treated with a single injection of AN-238 or AN-201 at 150 nmol/kg i.v. Nineteen days later, the group injected with AN-238 showed an 82% tumor growth inhibition compared with controls (p = 0.00168). This tumor inhibition could be reduced to 37% by blocking of SST receptors with a high dose of RC-160 given prior to treatment with

Drugs Fut 2001, 26(3) 267

AN-238. AN-201 was ineffective. In the same study, mice bearing very large tumors (approx. 900 mm³) were given 2 injections of AN-238 or AN-201 at doses of 150 mnol/kg. Nineteen days after the first injection, tumors shrank by 30% in the AN-238-treated group, while AN-201 again had no effect on the progression of tumor growth. In both studies, AN-201 was also more toxic. In an additional study, the effects of AN-238 at 150 mnol/kg were compared to those of its DOX-containing counterpart AN-162 (Fig. 1) at 13,750 nmol/kg, representing an equitoxic dose. While the relatively large tumors treated with AN-162 grew steadily, AN-238 virtually arrested tumor growth. In the second part of the experiment, animals with tumors that had already been treated unsuccessfully with AN-162 received AN-238 or a second dose of AN-162. While tumors in the AN-162-group continued to grow, AN-238 caused an impressive shrinkage (61). These results are in agreement with the fact that brain tumors are resistant to therapy with DOX. We also tested the efficacy of AN-238 injected into the tail vein of mice bearing orthotopically grown U-87 MG tumors. Again, AN-238 produced a significant prolongation of survival time compared with controls, indicating that the tumor blood-brain barrier may be penetrable for the cytotoxic SST analog AN-238.

AN-238 bound to the receptors present in U-87 MG tumors with high affinity ( $IC_{50} = 3.67 \pm 0.46$ , Table I) (61) and sst<sub>2</sub> was determined as the receptor subtype by mRNA analysis.

# Small and non-small cell lung carcinomas

Small cell lung cancer (SCLC) constitutes only about 20% of all lung cancers, but most cases are already metastatic at the time of diagnosis. Although chemotherapy can be used for treatment, the long-term survival rate is low. SCLC is of neuroendocrine origin and, accordingly, a high percentage of primary tumors and metastatic lesions can be localized in patients with Octreoscan scintigraphy (15). Other types of lung cancer, classified together as non-SCLC, can also be visualized by Octreoscan in patients, but the receptors for SST were found only in peritumoral tissue (blood vessels, immune cells, *etc.*) and not on tumor cells (15).

To test the merits of SST receptor targeting in SCLC, we injected nude mice bearing H-69 SCLC xenografts (~ 350 mm³ in size) with a single dose of AN-238 or AN-201 at 200 nmol/kg or twice with 150 nmol/kg i.v. AN-238 produced a > 50% inhibition of tumor growth with both treatment schedules and was significantly (p <0.05) more effective than AN-201, which was also more toxic (62). H-69 tumors bound radiolabeled RC-160 and expressed high levels of mRNA for sst<sub>2</sub> and lower levels for sst<sub>5</sub>. In contrast, we could not find mRNA for sst<sub>2</sub>, sst<sub>5</sub> or sst<sub>3</sub> in H-157 non-SCLC tumors and in cultured cells, but radioreceptor assays indicated that 4 of 5 control tumors showed specific binding of radiolabeled RC-160. Treatment with AN-238 at a dose of 200 nmol/kg also pro-

duced a very impressive 91% growth inhibition compared with controls. Therapy with an equimolar dose of AN-201 again did not produce significant antitumor effect and was more toxic than AN-238. Because tumor vasculature from the host could be the target for AN-238, we evaluated the RNA extract from the control tumor specimens for mRNA for the mouse  $\operatorname{sst}_2$  and  $\operatorname{sst}_5$  subtypes and found a strong expression of the former.

These results are the first examples of a successful targeted therapy based on SST receptors in tumor vasculature in an experimental model in which tumor cells themselves are SST receptor-negative (62). Similarly impressive results were obtained when the endothelial cells of angiogenic vessels were targeted with a different peptide-DOX conjugate that specifically homes in on tumor blood vessels (63).

#### Pancreatic cancer

One of the natural target organs of SST is the pancreas and, accordingly, this organ expresses high levels of SST receptor subtypes sst, and sst, (64). Hormone producing endocrine pancreatic tumors also express these subtypes, and administration of SST analogs is a widely accepted treatment for these types of malignancy (3-6). With the exception of some insulinomas, most endocrine pancreatic cancers can be visualized and treated with radionuclide SST analogs (15, 16). However, the cancer of the exocrine pancreas seems to be totally different from endocrine tumors with regard to SST receptor expression. Although there are some conflicting reports on this subject, SST binding sites appear to be poorly or not at all detectable on many of these cancers. Loss of sst, mRNA expression and lack of effect of SST analog therapy (64, 65) also demonstrate the difference between exocrine and endocrine pancreatic cancers. Presently there is no treatment for advanced metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma and the median survival time of patients with this malignancy is about 2-5 months (65).

Because some studies indicated a binding of a radionuclide SST octapeptide to pancreatic cancers in patients (66), and the expression of mRNA for  $\operatorname{sst}_5$  and  $\operatorname{sst}_3$  was also reported (64), we tested AN-238 on human pancreatic cancer lines xenografted in nude mice that express these subtypes (67). We were able to demonstrate very good tumor inhibition with AN-238, while AN-201 was ineffective (details of this study will be published soon).

Loss of sst<sub>2</sub> expression in pancreatic cancers could be connected with the proliferation of cells. To test this theory, PC-1.0 cells, originating from chemically induced ductal pancreatic cancers in Syrian golden hamsters, were stably transfected with the sst<sub>2</sub> gene to produce PC-1.0/sst<sub>2</sub> cells (67). It was demonstrated that after orthotopic injection in hamsters, PC-1.0/sst<sub>2</sub> cells grew significantly more slowly than control PC-1.0 cells. When animals with sst<sub>2</sub>-expressing tumors received an i.v. injection of AN-238 at 100 mnol/kg, tumor growth was further

slowed down compared with untreated PC-1.0/sst<sub>2</sub> tumors. In contrast, AN-238 had no effect on SST receptor-negative PC-1.0 tumors, demonstrating the importance of receptors for the efficacy of the targeted therapy (67).

## Epithelial ovarian cancer

Treatment options currently available for recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer do not provide satisfactory results (42). In search for better therapeutic modalities, we demonstrated using OV-1063 experimental human ovarian cancer model in nude mice that receptors for LH-RH, which are present on 80% of ovarian cancers, can be utilized for targeted therapy. In these studies we also showed that UCI-107 tumors, that are devoid of LH-RH receptors, do not respond to treatment with cytotoxic LH-RH analogs (20). Most recently, we reported that 13 of 17 (76%) surgical specimens of human epithelial ovarian cancer exhibited high affinity binding sites for radiolabeled RC-160 ( $K_D = 6.55$  nM and  $B_{max} = 575.4$  fmol/mg). The incidence of mRNA expression for sst<sub>2</sub>, sst<sub>3</sub> and sst<sub>5</sub> on these specimens was 65%, 41% and 24%, respectively. Two human ovarian cancer cell lines, OV-1063 and UCI-107, were also identified as SST receptor-positive (68).

Because LH-RH receptor-negative ovarian cancers may express receptors for SST, as in the case of UCI-107, we tested AN-238 in this model xenografted into nude mice (42). After 2 i.v. injections of AN-238 at 150 mnol/kg, given 7 days apart, final tumor weights were reduced by 67.3% compared with controls. Treatment with the same dose of AN-201 produced only a slight but nonsignificant effect. A similar degree of myelotoxicity was observed in surviving mice after both agents, but 2 of 8 animals died in the group treated with AN-201 while none died in the AN-238 group. Binding assays demonstrated that AN-238 displays high affinity binding to tumor membrane fractions in vitro, characterized by an IC $_{50}$  value of 3.39  $\pm$  0.74 (42) (Table I).

When starting tumors were 50% larger than in the first study, a comparable growth inhibition (70%) was achieved with AN-238 after pharmacological suppression of serum carboxylesterase activity. Following injection of 400 nmol/kg of AN-238, 2 of 9 animals died, apparently due to inadequate inhibition of carboxylesterase. Two weeks later, a second injection was given at the same dose and no deaths occurred. AN-201 under the same conditions killed all animals within 4 days after 1 injection.

## Other cancers

Presently, ongoing investigation of the efficacy of SST receptor-targeted chemotherapy on gastric and colon cancers as well as melanomas, in which AN-162 also showed very promising results, indicate that this therapeutic approach may find an application in a broad variety of cancers.

#### **Conclusions**

The results of preclinical studies and clinical trials with SST octapeptides and their radionuclide analogs indicate that the receptors for these peptides are present on a wide variety of cancerous cells. Although the SST receptor concentration on prostatic, renal, ovarian or pancreatic cancers appears to be much lower than on neuroendocrine cancers, it still should be high enough to produce significant responses to chemotherapy with targeted cytotoxic SST analogs. This targeted chemotherapy should be associated with a higher efficacy and lower toxicity than systemic chemotherapy. The presence of receptors for SST on the endothelial cells of newly formed tumoral vasculature and peritumoral veins may also serve as targets for cytotoxic SST conjugates, further broadening the scope of this type of therapy.

Although additional experimental work with cytotoxic SST hybrids is necessary before the initiation of clinical trials, the results summarized in this review indicate that analogs such as AN-238 or AN-162 should result in major improvements in the clinical management of various cancers that are presently treated with systemic chemotherapeutic agents.

# Acknowledgements

Some experimental work described here was supported by the Medical Research Service of the Veterans Affairs Department, an award from the Association for the Cure of Prostate Cancer (CaP CURE) and a grant from Asta Medica to Tulane University School of Medicine (all to AVS). We are grateful to Prof. J. Engel, Prof. B. Kutscher, Dr. M. Bernd, Dr. T. Nolte and Dr. B. Gunther (Asta Medica, Frankfurt/M) for extensive assistance in this project. We thank our colleagues, Dr. G. Halmos, Dr. M. Koppan, Dr. R-Z. Cai, Dr. K. Szepesházi, Dr. Z. Kahán, Dr. H. Kiaris, Dr. A. Plonowski, Dr. V. Csernus, Dr. M. Kovács, Dr. J. Arencibia, Dr. K. Groot, P. Armatis and F. Hebert for important contributions in testing the cytotoxic SST analogs. We also thank D. Callais and F. Rick for help in preparing this manuscript.

## References

- 1. Brazeau, P., Vale, W., Burgus, R. et al. *Hypothalamic polypeptide that inhibits the secretion of immunoreactive pituitary growth hormone*. Science 1973, 179: 77-9.
- 2. Schally, A.V., Coy, D.H., Meyers, C.A. *Hypothalamic regulatory hormones*. Annu Rev Biochem 1978, 47: 89-128.
- 3. Schally, A.V., Comaru-Schally, A-M. *Hypothalamic and other peptide hormones*. In: Cancer Medicine, 5th Ed. Bast, R.C., Kufe, D.W., Pollock, R.E., Weichselbaum, R.R., Holland, J.F., Frei, E. III (Eds.). B.C. Decker Inc.: Lewiston 2000, 715-29.
- 4. Schally, A.V. Oncological applications of somatostatin analogues. Cancer Res 1988, 48: 6977-85.

Drugs Fut 2001, 26(3) 269

- 5. Pollak, M.N., Schally, A.V. *Mechanisms of antineoplastic action of somatostatin analogs.* Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1998, 217: 143-52.
- 6. Reubi, J-C., Laissue, J.A. *Multiple actions of somatostatin in neoplastic disease*. Trends Pharmacol Sci 1995, 16: 110-5.
- 7. Bauer, W., Briner, U., Doepfner, W. et al. *SMS 201-995: A very potent and selective octapeptide analogue of somatostatin with prolonged action.* Life Sci 1982, 31: 1133-40.
- 8. Cai, R-Z., Szoke, B., Lu, R., Fu, D., Redding, T.W., Schally, A.V. *Synthesis and biological activity of highly potent octapeptide analogs of somatostatin.* Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1986, 83: 1896-900.
- 9. Murphy, W.A., Lance, V.A., Moreau, S., Moreau, J-P., Coy, D.H. *Inhibition of rat prostate tumor growth by an octapeptide analog of somatostatin*. Life Sci 1987, 40: 2515-22.
- 10. Reisine T., Bell, G.I. Molecular biology of somatostatin receptors. Endocr Rev 1995, 16: 427-42.
- 11. Patel. Y.C. Molecular pharmacology of somatostatin receptor subtypes. J Endocrinol Invest 1997, 20: 348-67.
- 12. Nagy, A., Szoke, B., Schally, A.V. Selective coupling of methotrexate to peptide hormone carriers through a γ-carbox-amide linkage of its glutamic acid moiety: Benzotriazole-1-yloxytris(dimethylamino)phosphonium hexafluorophosphate activation in salt coupling. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993, 90: 6373-6.
- 13. Radulovic, S., Nagy, A., Szoke, B., Schally, A.V. *Cytotoxic* analog of somatostatin containing methotrexate inhibits growth of MIA PaCa-2 human pancreatic cancer xenografts in nude mice. Cancer Lett 1992, 62: 263-71.
- 14. Bakker, W.H., Albert, R., Bruns, C. et al. [111 In-DTPA-D-Phe1] octreotide, a potential radiopharmaceutical for imaging of somatostatin receptor-positive tumors: Synthesis, radiolabeling and in vitro validation. Life Sci 1991, 49: 1583-91.
- 15. Krenning, E.P., Kwekkeboom, D.J., Bakker, W.H. et al. Somatostatin receptor scintigraphy with [111In-DTPA-D-Phe1]- and [123I-Tyr3]octreotide: The Rotterdam experience with more than 1,000 patients. Eur J Nucl Med 1993, 20: 716-31.
- 16. Otte, A., Mueller-Brand, J., Dellas, S., Nitsche, E.U., Herrmann, R., Maecke, H.R. *Yttrium-90-labelled somatostatin analogue for cancer treatment.* Lancet 1998, 351: 417-8.
- 17. Reubi, J-C., Schar, J-C., Waser, B. et al. Affinity profiles for human somatostatin receptor subtypes SST1-SST5 of somatostatin radiotracers selected for scintigraphic and radiotherapeutic use. Eur J Nucl Med 2000, 27: 273-82.
- 18. Nagy, A., Schally, A.V., Halmos, G. et al. *Synthesis and biological evaluation of cytotoxic analogs of somatostatin containing doxorubicin or its intensely potent derivative, 2-pyrrolinodoxorubicin.* Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998, 95: 1794-9.
- 19. Nagy, A., Armatis, P., Schally, A.V. High-yield conversion of doxorubicin to 2-pyrrolinodoxorubicin, an analog 500-1,000 times more potent; Structure-activity relationship of daunosamine-modified derivatives of doxorubicin. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996, 93: 2464-9.
- 20. Schally, A.V., Nagy, A. Cancer chemotherapy based on targeting of cytotoxic peptide conjugates to their receptors on tumors. Eur J Endocrinol 1999, 141: 1-14.
- 21. Huang, C.M., Wu, Y.T., Chen, S.T. *Targeting delivery of paclitaxel into tumor cells via somatostatin receptor endocytosis.* Chem Biol 2000, 7: 453-61.

22. Weiss, R.B. *The anthracyclines: Will we ever find a better doxorubicin?* Semin Oncol 1992, 19: 670-86.

- 23. Cummings, J., Anderson, L., Willmott, N., Smyth, J.F. *The molecular pharmacology of doxorubicin in vivo*. Eur J Cancer 1991, 27: 532-5.
- 24. Doroshow, J.H. *Doxorubicin-induced cardiac toxicity.* New Engl J Med 1991, 324: 843-5.
- 25. Tritton, T.R., Yee, G. *The anticancer agent adriamycin can be actively cytotoxic without entering cells.* Science 1982, 217: 248-50.
- 26. Pastan, I., Gottesman M.M. *Multidrug resistance*. Annu Rev Med 1991, 42: 277-86.
- 27. Begleiter, A., Leith, M.K., Johnston, J.B. *Activity of 3'-(3-cyano-4-morpholinyl)-3'-deaminoadriamycin in sensitive and resistant L5178Y lymphoblasts in vitro.* Cancer Res 1994, 54: 482-6.
- 28. Graul, A., Leeson, P.A., Castañer, J. *Nemorubicin*. Drugs Fut 1997, 22: 1319-24.
- 29. Nagy, A., Schally, A.V., Armatis, P. et al. *Cytotoxic analogs of luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone containing doxorubicin or 2-pyrrolinodoxorubicin, a derivative, 500-1,000 times more potent.* Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996, 93: 7269-73.
- 30. Nagy, A., Arinatis, P, Cai, R-Z., Szepeshazi, K., Halmos, G., Schally, A.V. Design, synthesis and in vitro evaluation of cytotoxic analogs of bombesin-like peptides containing doxorubicin or its intensely potent derivative, 2-pyrrolinodoxorubicin. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997, 94: 652-6.
- 31. Hurwitz, E., Levy, R., Maron, R., Wilchek, M., Amon, R., Sela, M. *The covalent binding of daunomycin and adriamycin to anti-bodies with retention of both drug and antibody activities.* Cancer Res 1975, 35: 1175-81.
- 32. Shen, W.C., Ryser, H.J.P. *cis-Aconityl spacer between daunomycin and macromolecular carriers: A model of pH-sensitive linkage releasing drug from lysosomotropic conjugate.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1981, 102: 1048-54.
- 33. Willner, D., Trail, P.A., Hofstead, S.J. et al. (6-Maleimidocaproyl)hydrazone of doxorubicin: A new derivative for the preparation of immunoconjugates of doxorubicin. Bioconjugate Chem 1993, 4: 521-7.
- 34. Trouet, A., Masquelier, M., Baurain, R., Deprez-De Campeneere, D. A covalent linkage between daunorubicin and proteins that is stable in serum and reversible by lysosomal hydrolases, as required for a lysosomotropic drug-carrier conjugate: In vitro and in vivo studies. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1982, 79: 626-9.
- 35. Putnam, D.A., Kopecek, J. Polymer conjugates with anti-cancer activity. Adv Polym Sci 1995, 122: 55-123.
- 36. Greenwald, R.B., Pendri, A., Conover, C.D. et al. *Drug delivery systems employing 1,4- or 1,6-elimination: Poly(ethylene glycol) prodrugs of amine-containing compounds.* J Med Chem 1999, 42: 3657-67.
- 37. Greenwald, R.B., Choe, Y.H., Conover, C.D., Shum, K., Wu, D., Royzen, M. *Drug delivery systems based on trimethyl lock lactonization: Poly(ethylene glycol) prodrugs of amino-containing compounds.* J Med Chem 2000, 43: 475-87.
- 38. Zunino, F., Giuliani, F., Savi, G., Dasdia, T., Gambetta, R. *Anti-tumor activity of daunorubicin linked to poly-L-aspartic acid.* Int J Cancer 1982, 30: 465-70.

- 39. Krisch, K. *Carboxylic ester hydrolases*. In: The Enzymes. Boyer, P.D. (Ed.). Academic Press: New York 1971, 43-69.
- 40. Hofland, L.J., van Koetsveld, P.M., Waaijers, M., Zuyderwijk, J., Breeman, W.A.P., Lamberts, S.W.J. Internalization of the radioiodinated somatostatin analog [125]-Tyr³]octreotide by mouse and human pituitary tumor cells: Increase by unlabeled octreotide. Endocrinology 1995, 136: 3698-706.
- 41. Plonowski, A., Schally, A.V., Nagy, A., Kiaris, H., Hebert, F., Halmos, G. *Inhibition of metastatic renal cell carcinomas expressing somatostatin receptors by a targeted cytotoxic analogue of somatostatin, AN-238.* Cancer Res 2000, 60: 2996-3001.
- 42. Plonowski, A., Schally, A.V., Koppan, M. et al. *Inhibition of UCI-107 human ovarian carcinoma by a targeted cytotoxic analog of somatostatin AN-238.* Cancer 2001, submitted.
- 43. Nagy, A., Plonowski, A., Schally, A.V. Stability of cytotoxic luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone conjugate (AN-152) containing doxorubicin 14-O-hemiglutarate in mouse and human serum in vitro: Implications for the design of preclinical studies. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000, 97: 829-34.
- 44. Koppan, M., Nagy, A., Schally, A.V., Arencibia, J.M., Plonowski, A., Halmos, G. *Targeted cytotoxic analogue of somatostatin AN-238 inhibits growth of androgen-independent Dunning R-3327-AT-1 prostate cancer in rats at nontoxic doses.* Cancer Res 1998, 58: 4132-7.
- 45. Lamberts, S.W.J., van der Lely, A.J., de Herder, W.W., Hofland, L.J. *Somatostatin analogs: Future directions*. Metabolism 1996, 45 (Suppl. 1): 104-6.
- 46. Slooter, G.D., Breeman, W.A.P., Marquet, R.L., Krenning, E.P., van Eijck, C.H.J. *Anti-proliferative effect of radiolabelled octreotide in a metastases model in rat liver.* Int J Cancer 1999, 81: 767-71
- 47. Merlo, A., Hausmann, O., Wasner, M. et al. Locoregional regulatory peptide receptor targeting with the diffusable somatostatin analogue <sup>90</sup>Y-labeled DOTA<sup>0</sup>-D-Phe<sup>1</sup>-Tyr<sup>3</sup>-octreotide (DOTATOC): A pilot study in human gliomas. Clin Cancer Res 1999, 5: 1025-33.
- 48. Jensen, R.T. Somatostatin receptor-based scintigraphy and antitumor treatment an expanding vista. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2000, 85: 3507-8.
- 49. Denzler, B., Reubi, J-C. Expression of somatostatin receptors in peritumoral veins of human tumors. Cancer 1999, 85: 188-98.
- 50. Woltering, E.A., Barrie, R., O'Dorisio, T.M. et al. *Somatostatin analogs inhibit angiogenesis in the chick chorioallantoic membrane*. J Surg Res 1991, 50: 245-51.
- 51. Schally, A.V., Comaru-Schally, A-M., Plonowski, A., Nagy, A., Halmos, G., Rekasi, Z. *Peptide analogs in the therapy of prostate cancer.* Prostate 2000, 45: 158-66.
- 52. Reubi, J-C., Waser, B., Schaer, J-C., Markwalder, R. *Somatostatin receptors in human prostate and prostate cancer.* J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1995, 80: 2806-14.
- 53. Halmos, G., Schally, A.V., Sun, B., Davis, R., Bostwick, D.G., Plonowski, A. *High expression of somatostatin receptors and messenger ribonucleic acid for its receptor subtypes in organ-confined and locally advanced human prostate cancers.* J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2000, 85: 2564-71.
- 54. Nilsson, S., Reubi, J-C. Kalkner, K.M. et al. Metastatic, hormone-refractory prostatic adenocarcinoma expresses somato-

- statin receptors and is visualized in vivo by [111In]-labeled DTPA-D-[Phe1]octreotide scintigraphy. Cancer Res 1995, 55 (Suppl. 23): 5805-10s.
- 55. Plonowski, A., Schally, A.V., Nagy, A., Sun, B., Szepeshazi, K. Inhibition of PC-3 human androgen-independent prostate cancer and its metastases by cytotoxic somatostatin analogue AN-238. Cancer Res 1999, 59: 1947-53.
- 56. Reubi, J-C., Kvols, L. *Somatostatin receptors in human renal cell carcinomas*. Cancer Res 1992, 52: 6074-8.
- 57. Kahán, Z., Nagy, A., Schally, A.V. et al. *Inhibition of growth of MX-1, MCF-7-MIII and MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer xenografts after administration of a targeted cytotoxic analog of somatostatin, AN-238.* Int J Cancer 1999, 82: 592-8.
- 58. Schaer, J-C., Waser, B., Mengod, G., Reubi, J-C. Somatostatin receptor subtypes sst<sub>1</sub>, sst<sub>2</sub>, sst<sub>3</sub>, and sst<sub>5</sub> expression in human pituitary, gastroentero-pancreatic and mammary tumors: Comparison of mRNA analysis with receptor autoradiography. Int J Cancer 1997, 70: 530-7.
- 59. Schulz, S., Schulz, S., Schmitt, J. et al. *Immunocytochemical detection of somatostatin receptors sst*<sub>1</sub>,  $sst_{2A'}$   $sst_{2B'}$  and  $sst_3$  in paraffin-imbedded breast cancer tissue using subtype-specific antibodies. Clin Cancer Res 1998, 4: 2047-52.
- 60. Dutour, A., Kumar, U., Panetta, R. et al. *Expression of somatostatin receptor subtypes in human brain tumors.* Int J Cancer 1998, 76: 620-7.
- 61. Kiaris, H., Schally, A.V., Nagy, A., Sun, B., Szepeshazi, K., Halmos, G. *Regression of U-87 MG human glioblastoma in nude mice after treatment with a cytotoxic somatostatin analog AN-238*. Clin Cancer Res 1000, 6: 709-17.
- 62. Kiaris, H., Schally, A.V., Nagy, A., Szepeshazi, K., Hebert, F., Halmos, G. *A targeted cytotoxic somatostatin analogue AN-238 inhibits growth of H-69 small cell lung carcinoma (SCLC) and H-157 non-SCLC in nude mice.* Eur J Cancer 2001, in press.
- 63. Arap, W., Pasqualini, R., Ruoslahti, E. *Cancer treatment by targeted drug delivery to tumor vasculature in a mouse model.* Science 1998, 279: 377-80.
- 64. Buscail, L., Saint-Laurent, N., Chastre, E. et al. Loss of sst<sub>2</sub> somatostatin receptor gene expression in human pancreatic and colorectal cancer. Cancer Res 1996, 56: 1823-7.
- 65. Burch, P.A., Block, M., Schroeder, G. et al. *Phase III evaluation of octreotide versus chemotherapy with 5-fluorouracil or 5-fluorouracil plus leucovorin in advanced exocrine pancreatic cancer: A North Central Cancer Treatment Group study.* Clin Cancer Res 2000, 6: 3486-92.
- 66. Raderer, M., Panagerl, T., Leimer, M. et al. *Expression of human somatostatin receptor subtype 3 in pancreatic cancer in vitro and in vivo.* J Natl Cancer Inst 1998, 90: 1666-8.
- 67. Benali, N., Cordelier, P., Calise, D. et al. Inhibition of growth and metastatic progression of pancreatic carcinoma in hamster after somatostatin subtype 2 (sst<sub>2</sub>) gene expression and administration of cytotoxic somatostatin analog AN-238. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000, 97: 9180-5.
- 68. Halmos, G., Sun, B., Schally, A.V., Hebert, F., Nagy, A. *Human ovarian cancers express somatostatin receptors*. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2000, 85: 3509-12.